FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 11/17/2020 1:42 PM No. 36677-4-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/18/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99236-3

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NOCHE VISTA, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioner,

v.

BANDERA AT BEAR MOUNTAIN RANCH HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington Nonprofit Corporation,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert G. Dodge WSBA #12313 Law Offices of Robert G. Dodge, PLLC 124 N. Wenatchee Avenue, Suite A PO Box 262 Wenatchee, WA 98807-0262 (509) 662-9602

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Noche Vista LLC ("Noche Vista") seeks review by this Court of the Division III opinion terminating review set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division III filed its opinion on August 20, 2020. A copy of the opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-24. That court denied Noche Vista's motion to publish the opinion by an order entered on October 27, 2020, a copy of which is in the Appendix at page A-25.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where Division III correctly concluded that a residential community's CC&Rs do not apply to undivided property that is not included in the CC&Rs' legal description and could not be included within the community without formal "annexation," as the CC&Rs require, did it err in concluding that a grantor who had relinquished any interest in the property by a deed in lieu of foreclosure could nevertheless amend the CC&Rs to effectuate an annexation?

2. If the grantor had the right to amend the CC&Rs, despite having conveyed any interest it had to a lender by a deed in lieu of foreclosure, was an amendment to the CC&Rs that nowhere mentioned annexation sufficient to accomplish that result?

3. Did the court err in finding that the HOA, rather than Noche Vista, was entitled to a fee award?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division III's opinion accurately sets forth the facts and procedure

in this case. Op. at 2-11. Certain facts, however, bear emphasis.

Bandera is a platted subdivision in Chelan County that was the brainchild of developer Jerry Scofield; it was a part of a larger development, Bandera at Bear Mountain Ranch ("BMR"), that had its own development guidelines. Bandera encompassed nearly 93 acres, or 6% of BMR's overall territory. Scofield's general plan of development for Bandera was clearly set forth in its CC&Rs. It was to be developed in three phases. The third phase was not subject to the CC&Rs until it was annexed into Bandera. Br. of appellants at 4-10.

Scofield's dream for Bandera, with excessive restrictions on development, proved to be uneconomic even though it was recreational property in the otherwise hot Lake Chelan real estate market. Scofield lost Phase III to his lender. *Id.* at 13.¹ Noche Vista purchased Phase III. *Id.* at 14-15. Noche Vista has not yet developed Phase III. At issue in this case is whether it is annexed to Bandera and subject to Bandera's restrictive CC&Rs.

¹ The economic failure of the development is evident in both the Bank taking ownership over Phase III and in the lack of construction in Phases I and II. CP 349, 374. Most lots in Phases I and II remain vacant while development elsewhere in the Lake Chelan area is booming. Reply br. at 4-5. And since Scofield's project went bust, the restrictions in the CC&Rs have become tighter, not looser, because of Scofield's last gasp at control. Any owner of Phase III has an interest in remaining free from Scofield's even more stringent proposed restrictions on development, given the failure of Phases I and II.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case comes to the Court in an unusual posture. The trial court granted summary judgment to the HOA based on its belief that although the covenants stated that Bandera Phase III had to be *annexed* in order to be subject to the CC&Rs' regulatory scheme, the CC&Rs did not mean what they said and annexation was not required. CP 662. Like the HOA, the trial court tried to read "annexation" out of the CC&Rs.

Division III correctly disagreed with that interpretation, holding that formal annexation was required to subject Phase III to Bandera's CC&Rs. Op. at 13-16. This is consistent with contractual interpretation principles that apply to the interpretation of CC&Rs established by this Court in numerous cases, most recently, *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n.*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 249, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). Op. at 11-13. The primary objective of any interpretation is determining the CC&Rs' drafters' intent. *Wilkinson, id.* at 250; *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 621, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). Moreover, the plain language of the covenants, considered in their entirety, controls. *Wilkinson, id.* at 250; *Hollis v. Garwell, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 694, 974 P.2d 836 (1999).

Despite Division III correctly realizing that the CC&Rs did not bind Phase III without annexation, Division III decided that Scofield, in fact, annexed Phase III. In so holding, the court upended Washington property law in critical ways that cry out for this Court's review. First, Division III held that a grantor has a personal right – not a property right that runs with the land – to annex property to new CC&Rs and retains that personal right even after granting an essentially unconditional deed in lieu of foreclosure to the lender. Second, Division III held that a grantor may exercise this personal right of annexation without expressly declaring the annexation or modifying the legal description of the CC&Rs to add the purportedly annexed property to it. Review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1, 2, 4).

(1) <u>The CC&Rs Did Not Apply to Bandera Phase III</u>

The trial court failed to credit the express language in the CC&Rs requiring Phase III's *annexation* before it was subject to those CC&Rs, as Division III discerned. The clearest indicators of the grantor's intent in the CC&Rs were the provisions regarding annexation, and the legal description for the land subject to the CC&Rs' binding provisions.

Neither Phase II nor Phase III of Bandera was divided into individual numbered lots on the original plat. CP 146-54. That original plat referenced a future Phase III of 31.76 acres. CP 123, 149-50. Phase III, now owned by Noche Vista, has never been subdivided into Landholdings, or individual numbered lots.

The word "annex" appears in the CC&Rs' definition of the term "Landholding" and in a procedure for adding properties to the CC&Rs. A

"Landholding" was defined there as "one of the individual numbered lots, each approximately one-third acre in size, designated by Declarant to be a Landholding in Bandera as shown on the Plat." CP 178-79. The CC&Rs tied the term "Landholding" to the term "Owner" when they defined an Owner as "one or more persons or entities who are, alone or collectively, the record owner of fee simple title to a Landholding." CP 179 (emphasis added). Every Owner pledged to "abide by the intent and purposes of this declaration." CP 171. With these interlocking definitions of Owner and Landholding, the CC&Rs bound only the individual numbered lots identified on the recorded plat. Phase III did not include individual numbered lots; Phase III had no "Landholdings" that were subject to the CC&Rs. This point was made explicit in the last sentence of the definition of Landholding, where the word "annex" appeared: "The number of Landholdings may be increased through annexation of Bandera Phase III." CP 179 (emphasis added). The CC&Rs used the term "annexation" only for Phase III. CP 178-79. So, rather than assume that Phase III was subject to their authority, the CC&Rs assumed that Phase II was and could be divided simply by altering the plat. By contrast, the CC&Rs required a formal "annexation" for Phase III. Id.

A formal procedure for the "annexation" of property was established in the CC&Rs' Article 10. "[A]dditional real property" could be " annexed

to and become subject to this Declaration," if the "Declarant" recorded "a supplemental (or amended) declaration" with the County Auditor's Office. A "Declarant" was defined in the CC&Rs as "Scofield CP 198. Construction, L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company, and its successors and assigns." CP 178.² Nothing in this definition evidences an intent to reserve any rights to the Declarant upon the sale of Bandera. In fact, it contemplated that the Declarant's rights could be passed on to a successor in ¶ 12.13 "to the extent specifically designated by Declarant and only with respect to the particular rights and interests specifically designated." CP 202. ¶ 10.2 of the CC&Rs made it clear that a property was not "annexed" and subject to their provisions until the recording with the Chelan County Auditor occurred. CP 198. Thus, the CC&Rs were designed to tightly restrict Phases I and II according to Scofield's vision, but to otherwise maintain flexibility for him to develop Phase III as he chose.³ Indeed, Scofield himself saw Phase III as a distinct subdivision.

² The Declarant is a grantor, as that term is often used in this Court's decisions.

³ Consistent with this analysis of maximum flexibility for Scofield, the CC&Rs gave Scofield the general discretion to unilaterally amend the provisions of the CC&Rs during the Development Period. CP 197-98. As the Declarant in the CC&Rs, Scofield's development company was also the Management. CP 178. The CC&Rs exempted Scofield from the pre-construction review process that restricted every Owner. CP 179-81. Although the CC&Rs allowed the annexation of Phase III to create more Landholdings subject to the CC&Rs, the CC&Rs did not require the Declarant or Management to ever annex Phase III into CC&Rs. CP 166-205. Phase III could then be developed freely, subject to the land use regulations that apply to BMR, such as its mitigation agreement with the County, the zoning code, and the conditions of the County's plat approvals. CP 178.

naming it Noche Vista to set it apart from Bandera Phases I and II. Reply br. at 12.

This type of scheme—a phased, flexible development plan with a corresponding "annexation" procedure in the CC&Rs—was not unique to BMR. *See, e.g., Avolio v. Cedars Golf, LLC*, 196 Wn. App. 1063, 2016 WL 6708089 at *1 (2016), *review denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1026 (2017). This option to add Phase III to Bandera at a later date was also confirmed by the fact that the CC&Rs required owners to acknowledge Scofield's right to develop Phase III independently.⁴

In sum, Division III correctly ruled that the CC&Rs have required the formal annexation of Phase III before it was subject to them.

Scofield employed this flexibility. Before hobbling any new owner of Phase III with 70 pages of development restrictions limiting development to single family dwellings, Scofield actively explored multi-family development in Phase III. Br. of Appellants at 4-5.

⁴ "Owner acknowledges and agrees that areas of Bear Mountain Ranch will continue to be developed for residential use, for higher density occupation or for any other purpose permitted by law." CP 192. "Owner agrees not to protest or object to any future development of Bear Mountain Ranch." *Id.* The CC&Rs cautioned also that "[p]roperty owners cannot expect views, which exist at the time of purchase, to remain unchanged over time." CP 190. Via the CC&Rs, Scofield was candid with Owners of Landholdings in Phases I and II about his plans: their neighborhood could grow with the annexation of Phase III, but Phase III and BMR as a whole could also grow and change beyond the confines of Phases I and II.

(2) <u>A Grantor's Rights, like the Rights under the CC&Rs, Run</u> with the Land and a Grantor Has No Further Authority Once the Grantor Conveys the Property

The Court of Appeals went askew when it adopted entirely new principles, essentially ones of first impression for this Court.⁵ It concluded first that a grantor's interest is a personal right that does not run with the land, op. at 17-18, it further concluded that a grantor's deed in lieu of foreclosure did not relinquish such a personal right to the lender, op. at 17, and it concluded that the CC&Rs Seventh Amendment, designed to remove grantor Jerry Scofield from the management or enforcement of the CC&Rs, constituted a *de facto* annexation of Bandera Phase III as required by the definition of "Landholding," even though the terms "annex" or "annexation" appear nowhere in the Seventh Amendment. Op. at 18.⁶

⁵ Issues of first impression are uniquely suited to review by this Court. First impression statutory interpretation questions, for example, are often the subject of review by this Court either under RAP 4.2(a)(4) or RAP 13.4(b)(4). *E.g., Glass v. Stahl Specialty Co.*, 97 Wn.2d 880, 652 P.2d 948 (1982) (first impression of 1981 tort reform legislation); *Rental Housing Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) (whether a city's response to a Public Records Act request was sufficient to trigger the PRA's statute of limitations); *Birrueta v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 186 Wn.2d 537, 379 P.3d 120 (2016) (interpretation of statute addressing repayment of industrial insurance benefits); *Plein v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.*, 195 Wn.2d 677, 463 P.3d 728 (2020) (application of RPC 1.9).

⁶ Although the trial court erred in its interpretation of "annexation" in the CC&Rs, it firmly rejected the position Division III ultimately took on whether Scofield could annex Phase III:

The only debatable issue remaining in the case, from the court's perspective, is the effect on plaintiff of the seventh amendment to the CCR's. As argued by plaintiff, at the time Jerry Scofield executed the seventh amendment, he no longer held any legal interest in phase 3,

The novel principles adopted in Division III's opinion would surprise real estate lawyers, lending institutions, title insurers, and the property purchasers across our state. This Court should grant review to address such principles that conflict with Washington authority and represent such an impactful change in Washington law. RAP 13.4(b).

(a) <u>A Declarant's Rights in Connection with the</u> <u>Covenants Run with the Land</u>

In order for the CC&Rs Seventh Amendment at issue here to be effective, grantor Jerry Scofield had to possess the authority to actually amend the CC&Rs. At the time Scofield recorded the Seventh Amendment with the Chelan County Auditor in 2012, *Scofield had lost his interest in Phase III*. CP 115-17. He had already recorded a deed in lieu of foreclosure conveying his interest in Phase III to a local bank. Division III concluded, however, that a declarant's right to amend covenants is personal to the declarant and does not run with the land, op. at 17-18, citing only out-of-

CP 662.

having conveyed a deed in lieu of foreclosure to North Cascades National Bank on April 30, 2012. The court is persuaded that, legally, Mr. Scofield retained no interest – development or otherwise – in phase 3 as of that date. The cases cited by plaintiff support this conclusion. Further, it strains reason to suggest that a party could convey away all title to property and nevertheless argue that he still held the right to develop it absent a specific reservation of that right.

state authority for that principle. Division III failed to note countervailing authority from this Court on when interests run with the land.

Plainly, Scofield's interest as the Declarant/grantor ran with the land, and it was conveyed to the lender by the deed in lieu of foreclosure. As long ago as *Lake Arrowhead Community Club, Inc. v. Looney*, 112 Wn.2d 288, 295, 770 P.2d 1046 (1989), this Court made clear the criteria for an interest running with the land:

(1) the covenants must have been enforceable between the original parties, such enforceability being a question of contract law except insofar as the covenant must satisfy the statute of frauds; (2) the covenant must "touch and concern" both the land to be benefitted and the land to be burdened; (3) the covenanting parties must have intended to bind their successors in interest; (4) there must be vertical privity of estate, *i.e.*, privity between the original parties to the covenant and the present disputants; and (5) there must be horizontal privity of estate, or privity between the original parties. W. Stoebuck, *Running Covenants: An Analytical Primer*, 52 Wash. L. Rev. 861 (1977).

Any right Scofield had under the CC&Rs ran with the land under this rule. *Nothing* in the CC&Rs here evidences an intent to divorce Scofield's right as a grantor from the effective operation of the rights under the CC&Rs. Such a right, like the CC&Rs themselves, ran with the land. *See, e.g., Lake Limerick Country Club v. Hunt Mfg. Homes, Inc.*, 120 Wn. App. 246, 84 P.3d 295 (2004) (covenants, including homeowners' dues, ran with the land). In any event, the rule adopted by Division III that a grantor's rights automatically are personal to the grantor and do not run with the land represents bad public policy. To divorce a grantor's right to amend covenants from the covenants themselves is a policy fraught with the potential for mischief and confusion. Washington property owners and lenders will be surprised that a grantor who has sold all lots in a subdivision or has sold any rights in the subdivisions to others could be entitled, out of the blue, to amend the covenants *years later* because that was a personal "right." Could the grantor sell such an interest on the open market? Would title insurers be required to note that such a right might be exercised in the future?

Moreover, the covenants here contemplated that any grantor interest

ran with the land. \P 12.4 of the covenants states in pertinent part:

Declarant, for itself, its successors and assigns hereby declares that all of Bandera must be held, used and occupied subject to the conditions, covenants and restrictions of this Declaration and the other Governing Documents, and that all such provisions will run with the land and be binding upon all persons who hereafter become the owner of any interest in Bandera.

CP 200-01. Similarly, section 12.5 of the CC&Rs also provided:

<u>General Scheme</u>. Each Owner and person acquiring any interest in real property subject to this Declaration agrees that this Declaration and the other Governing Documents set forth a general scheme for the improvement, development, operation, management (including enforcement and dispute resolution) of the real property covered hereby, and further agrees that all of the Governing Documents run with the land and be binding on all subsequent and future owners, grantees, assignees and transferees.

CP 201.

Such a significant change in the treatment of grantor rights as adopted by Division III is one for this Court to address. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1, 2, 4).

(b) <u>A Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure Transmits a</u> Declarant's Interest in the Covenants to the Lender

Even if Division III were correct that Scofield's rights as grantor were "personal" and did not run with the land, he relinquished any right he had in Bandera generally, and Phase III specifically, when his company granted to the Bank "all of its right, title, and interest in" the property known as Bandera Phase III. CP 115-16. Under Washington property law, any property rights not expressly excluded are included in the conveyance. *Knutson v. Reichel*, 10 Wn. App. 293, 295, 518 P.2d 233 (1973), *review denied*, 83 Wn.2d 1009 (1974) (citing 1 R. Patton, *C. Patton Land Titles* § 161 (2d ed 1957)).⁷

This principle is entirely consistent with the well-understood

⁷ This Court has treated property rights broadly. *Manufactured Housing Communities of Washington v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 347, 364-68, 13 P.3d 183 (2000), *abrogated on other grounds, Yim v. City of Seattle*, 194 Wn.2d 651, 451 P.3d 675 (2019) (right of first refusal is a property interest subject to taking by the government).

purpose of a deed in lieu of foreclosure. It is the functional equivalent of a non-judicial foreclosure, *Thompson v. Smith*, 58 Wn. App. 361, 366, 793 P.2d 449 (1990), and satisfies the debt the property secures. Marjorie Dick Rombauer, 27 *Wash. Practice Creditors' Remedies-Debtor's Relief* § 2.32.

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