FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/16/2020 11:20 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99236-3

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NOCHE VISTA, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioner,

٧.

BANDERA AT BEAR MOUNTAIN RANCH HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian A. Walker, WSBA #26586 Aaron Harris, WSBA #36802 Attorneys for Respondent OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, P.L.L.C. 1 Fifth St., Suite 200 Wenatchee, WA 98801

Tel: 509-662-1954/Fax: 509-663-1553

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

D. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' opinion affirming the trial court's summary judgment for the Association and against Noche Vista is not suitable for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4). The opinion conflicts with no decisions of this Court or of the Court of Appeals. It correctly applies well-established law to Noche Vista's unique set of facts and offers no issues of substantial public interest.

1. No Conflict with Other Decisions

Notably, Noche Vista's Petition does not identify a decision of this

Court or of the Court of Appeals at odds with the Court of Appeals' opinion

in Noche Vista v. Bandera. This omission is telling. The absence of any conflicting decisions supports this Court's denial of Noche Vista's Petition under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

As for Noche Vista's argument that the Court of Appeals chose to cite out-of-state authority in its opinion related to divisible developer rights, the court's opinion is consistent with Washington law's well-established and long recognized bundle of sticks concept of real property. Eggleston v. Pierce Cty., 148 Wn.2d 760, 64 P.3d 618 (2003); Manufactured Hous. Communities of Washington v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347, 13 P.3d 183 (2000), abrogated by Chong Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wn.2d 651, 451 P.3d 675 (2019).

Under Washington's bundle of sticks principle, ownership of title and ownership of the right to develop property are divisible. A developer can sell the developer's title to land, but retain the right to develop that same property. W. Main Assoc. v. City of Bellevue, 106 Wn.2d 47, 720 P.2d 782 (1986), abrogated by, Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wn.2d 682, 454 P.3d 694 (2019). For example, a developer can sell lots in a development and retain the right to later regulate, encumber, or alter lots (e.g. install roads or other improvements on reserved easements). Id.

- 6 -

When discussing a right of first refusal in relation to other property rights, the Washington State Supreme Court has described the bundle of sticks theory as follows:

The United States Supreme Court has long held property consists of a "group of rights inhering in the citizen's relation to the physical thing, as the right to possess, use and dispose of it ... Although a right of first refusal to purchase property is a "preemptive" right it has nonetheless been held to be an interest in property as well. "It [a right of first refusal] is an interest in property, and not merely a contractual right, whereby the preemptioner acquires an equitable right in the property, which vests only when the property owner decides to sell ...

[T]he right to grant first refusal is a part of "the bundle of sticks" which the *owner* enjoys as a vested incident of ownership. As Philip Nichols explains, in *The Law of Eminent Domain*, "property is often used to describe the corporeal object that is the subject of ownership, as well as the aggregate rights that an owner possesses in or with respect to such a corporeal object." *2 Nichols on Eminent Domain* § 5.01[2][d], at 5–10 (3d rev. ed.1999) (footnote omitted). Property is not one single right, but is composed of several distinct rights, which each may be subject to regulation. "[T]he right of property includes four particulars: (1) right of occupation; (2) right of excluding others; (3) right of disposition, or the right of transfer in the integral right to other persons; (4) right of transmission....

Manufactured Hous. Communities of Washington v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347, 367, 13 P.3d 183, 193 (2000), abrogated by Chong Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wn.2d 651, 451 P.3d 675 (2019)

The Court of Appeals also cited in its opinion the Restatement (Third) of Property: Servitudes, which Restatement this Court has cited in the past as persuasive authority. Robbins v. Mason Cty. Title Ins. Co., 195 Wn.2d 618, 462 P.2d 430 (2020). "A servitude is a legal device that creates a right or obligation that runs with the land that can be, among other things, an easement, profit, or covenant." Id. (citing 1 Restatement (Third) of Property: Servitudes § 1.1). The Restatement reinforces Washington's long-established bundle of sticks concept. It states that the rights to develop and land ownership are divisible. One's development rights can encumber another's fee title as a servitude, just like one's easements or profits can encumber another's title. The Restatement reads:

There is wide diversity in the types of land-use arrangements that can be implemented by servitudes. Depending on the nature and object of the arrangement, the parties may create servitudes whose benefits will be held personally, in gross, or appurtenant to another interest in land. They may create benefits to be held successively, first as an appurtenance to land, then, after the holder has parted with the interest to which it was appurtenant, to be held in gross. The parties may create servitude benefits to be held by many different holders in different capacities, concurrently and successively. In determining what the parties intended, the full range of possibilities should be kept in mind. Under the rule stated in this section, there are no limits on the kinds or combinations of servitude benefits that can be created.

Restatement (Third) of Property (Servitudes) § 2.6. cmt. c (2000).

In addition to the <u>Restatement</u> and the numerous out-of-state cases the Court of Appeals cited, the following Washington law further supports the court's opinion that development rights are divisible. W. Main Assocs. v. City of Bellevue, 106 Wn.2d 47, 50 (1986)("[w]e have recognized that although less than a fee interest, development rights are beyond question a valuable right in property."); <u>Burien Town Square Condo. Ass'n v. Burien Town Square Parcel 1, LLC</u>, 3 Wn. App.2d 571, 416 P.3d 1286, <u>review denied</u>, 191 Wn.2d 1015 (2018) ("[t]he exercise of a development right does not include a transfer of those rights. Nor does the [Washington Condominium Act's] definition of development rights indicate that conveying property to a successor declarant results in the end of the period of declarant control ... ").

In Noche Vista's case, the undisputed facts are that through his entities, Jerry Scofield owned fee title to all of Bandera, including fee title to Bandera Phase III. CP 005, 299. Prior to any transfers of title, Mr. Scofield encumbered all of Bandera, including Bandera Phase III, with the Covenants. CP 004, 024-031, 053-054, and 110-117. As part of Bandera, Bandera Phase III benefited from Bandera's road system, walking trails,

and other common areas. CP 301, 330, and 368-369. Mr. Scofield then sold "Landholdings" in Bandera to third parties and conveyed the yet-to-be-divided tract of land, Bandera Phase III, to his lender. CP 425. Despite these conveyances, Mr. Scofield retained, pursuant to the Covenants' reservation of development rights, the right to continue to develop all the real property that made up Bandera, including Bandera Phase III. CP 031 and 050. The Covenants read as follows concerning Mr. Scofield's retained, divisible development rights:

- 1.11 "Development Period" means that period of time beginning as of the date of this Declaration and ending on the earlier of (1) thirty-five (35) years from the date hereof, or (2) written notice from Declarant to the Management [the Association] by which Declarant elects to terminate the Development Period.
- 9.2 Amendments. Commencing on the date of recording of this Declaration and continuing until the end of the Development Period, the Declarant has the absolute right and sole discretion to amend any provision of the Declaration, except as expressly limited herein, provided further that such amendment does not adversely affect marketability of title to any Landholding or impair the security of any Mortgage ... Any document amending this Declaration will be duly executed by the Declarant, or the president and secretary of Management as appropriate.

CP 031 and 050.

As for Noche Vista's annexation argument, the Court of Appeals' opinion does not establish new law regarding how one may annex real property into a multi-phase residential development. It cites well-established law describing how courts have long interpreted covenants.

Court of Appeals Opinion, pgs. 12-13. The court then correctly applied that law to Noche Vista's unique set of facts and denied Noche Vista's efforts to wriggle free of the Covenants. See Court of Appeals Opinion.

Concerning Noche Vista's argument related to RCW 64.04.045(1)(f) and the Covenants' recording box, the Court of Appeals correctly identified this issue to be possible evidence of Mr. Scofield's intent, but did not dwell on the issue. Instead, the court correctly found the Covenants' Seventh Amendment dispositive, which ruling was correct for the reasons stated below. <u>Id.</u>, pg. 19.

Based on the foregoing, this Court should deny Noche Vista's Petition.

2. No Substantial Public Interest

Due to the unique facts at issue on Noche Vista's appeal, the Court of Appeals' opinion is not of general public interest or importance. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 11 - 121520{BAW2319261.DOCX;2/21369.055001/}

With its Petition, Noche Vista continues its efforts to wriggle free from the unique provisions of Bandera's Covenants, claiming one word in the "Landholding" definition, "annexation", should be construed against the entire text found in the 39 pages of the Covenants. Noche Vista is mistaken.

As indicated above, well-settled Washington law provides guidance to the public on how courts are to interpret covenants, including directing that for residential covenants, like those at issue in Noche Vista's case, covenants are construed to protect the homeowners who purchased property in the residential development in reliance on the covenants.

Burton v. Douglas Cty., 65 Wn.2d 619, 399 P.2d 68 (1965); Wilkinson v.

Chiwawa Communities Ass'n, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014);

Saunders v. Meyers, 175 Wn. App. 427,306 P.3d 978, (2013).

Citing no conflicting law, Noche Vista's Petition reargues the merits of its declaratory judgment action on which it lost at the trial court and again at the Court of Appeals. While the trial court and the Court of Appeals each identified different grounds on which the Association prevailed, both courts were correct.

The trial court correctly ruled that the Covenants unambiguously apply to and encumber Bandera Phase III. It reasoned:

[T]he essential issue presented ... is whether the property described as tract 10 or phase III ("phase 3") is subject to the "Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions and Easements for Bandera at Bear Mountain Ranch" ("CCR's"). Despite plaintiff's best efforts to wriggle free of these legal restraints, the court answer the question yes ... [Noche Vista's argument] misses the mark ... [The Covenants] described the property encompassed by the CCRs, which included phase 3 ... Paragraph 12.5, in turn, provides that any person who acquires any interest in any of the real property subject to the declaration agrees to the applicability and enforceability of the CCR's. See also paragraph 12.4.

CP 661-662.

The Court of Appeals also correctly found that the Covenants encumbered Bandera Phase III. However, it first questioned the scope to which the Covenants burdened Bandera Phase III prior to the recording of the Seventh Amendment and before that tract was divided into "Landholdings". It stated:

We agree with Noche Vista that we cannot treat as meaningless the statement in section 1.15's definition of "Landholding" that "The number of Landholdings maybe increased through annexation of Bandera Phase III." CP at 179. The definition of Landholding is critical to the definition of "Owner," and a number of provisions of the Declaration apply only to Owners. It is clear from that

statement in section 1.15 and from the separately defined terms "Bandera Phases I and II" and "Bandera Phase III" that lots in Phase III could only become *fully* subject to the Declaration—subject to provisions applicable only to Owners—following annexation.

By the same token, we cannot treat as meaningless Scofield's inclusion of Phase III in the Declaration, particularly where the statement that Landholdings "may be increased through annexation of Bandera Phase III" (emphasis added) is most reasonably understood as binding future owners of and within Phase III to being annexed in the manner provided by the Declaration. ...

There would be no point in including Bandera Phase III in the Declaration if only to say that there was a "possibility" it could be annexed ...

[A]rticle 10, dealing with annexation, suffices for that purpose. Including Phase III in the Declaration and binding it to the Declaration's terms is meaningful only because it binds Phase III to a method of annexation ...

The Declaration provides that annexation is accomplished by an amendment executed by the declarant. ... The "Declarant" is Scofield. ... Until the end of the development period (defined as 35 years from the date of recording the Declaration, unless earlier terminated by the declarant in writing) the declarant was granted "the absolute right and sole discretion" to amend the Declaration, subject to its express limitations and a requirement to exercise the discretion reasonably, in a manner that would not impair marketability of title or the security of any mortgage.

Court of Appeals Opinion, pgs. 13-15.

The Court of Appeals, however, did not need to address the full scope of the Covenants' encumbrance on Bandera Phase III prior to the Seventh Amendment. Instead, it agreed with the Association that the Covenants' Seventh Amendment ended Noche Vista's case. The court accepted as correct the Association's argument that "if the seventh amendment was a good amendment that Mr. Scofield had the ability to sign ... the case is ... over for Noche Vista". Report of Proceedings (PR) at 24. It then ruled, as a matter of law, that the Seventh Amendment subjected Bandera Phase III to the full scope of the Covenants, which included Noche Vista, as an "Owner" required to pay "Assessments" once Noche Vista divided Bandera Phase III into "Landholdings". It stated:

To summarize, the Declaration is reasonably understood to create one set of servitudes for "Owners," as defined, and a different servitude for Phase III: permission for the Declarant to annex it by amending the Declaration.

Annexation of Phase III was accomplished by the execution and recording of the seventh amendment. Annexation could be by an amended declaration, and the seventh amendment was "made by the Declarant ... pursuant to Article 9, Section 9.2 of the Declaration," its "Amendment" provision. CP at 306. The amendment was made "prior to the end of the Development Period." CP at 317. It modified the Declaration "as to that property described on the attached Exhibit 'A,'" which included Phase III. CP at 307. It provided that the HOA, which was being incorporated

simultaneously, would manage the common areas and amenities and enforce the Declaration as to "Bandera Phases I, II and III." CP at 308-09. It amended the Declaration to "eliminate [any] inconsistencies. CP at 317.

Court of Appeals Opinion, pg. 16.

Based on the foregoing, this Court should deny Noche Vista's Petition.

3. Association's Legal Fees and Costs

This Court should award the Association its legal fees and costs incurred to answer Noche Vista's Petition for Review. RAP 18.1.

The Covenants allow for fees and costs when the Association enforces the Covenants. The Covenants' Attorney Fees Clause reads in relevant part: "In the event any party employs legal counsel to enforce any covenant ... the substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all reasonable attorneys' fees ... and all other costs and expenses not limited to court action." CP 055.

RCW 4.84.330 provides that attorneys and costs shall be awarded when a contract or covenants so require. Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). RAP 18.1 allows for legal fees and costs incurred on appeal.

Here, the Covenants apply to and are enforceable against Noche Vista and Bandera Phase III, despite Noche Vista's efforts to wriggle free. To enforce the Covenants and defend against Noche Vista's declaratory judgment action, the Association employed Ogden Murphy Wallace, P.L.L.C. CP 001-008. The Association prevailed at the trial court and again at the Court of Appeals. It enforced the Covenants against Noche Vista. If this Court denies Noche Vista's Petition for Review, the Association will have again prevailed and successfully enforced the Covenants. RAP 18.1.

E. CONCLUSION

The Association requests this Court deny Noche Vista's Petition for Review and award it fees and costs. Noche Vista's appeal does not involve a significant legal question of interest to the public. It offers little to no presidential value and conflicts with no prior court decisions.